1963

Wycoff Company Inc. v. Public Service Comm. Of Utah et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This is a Declaratory Judgment action that seeks to have declared unconstitutional the Utah Motor Carrier Act (Chapter 6, Title 54, Utah Code Annotated 1953) and all of the Public Utilities Act (Title 54, Utah Code Annotated 1953), to the extent that the provisions of the latter act relate to the regulation or control of motor carriers, on the basis that the provisions and requirements of said Acts, and the exemptions provided in Section 54-6-12, Utah Code Annotated 1953, are repugnant to Article I, Sections 2, 7

and 24 of the Constitution of the State of Utah and Amendment XIV of the Constitution of the United States of America.

DISPOSITION OF CASE BY LOWER COURT

Most of the facts pertaining to methods of regulation by the Public Service Commission were stipulated. No testimony was taken and the matter was submitted after the filing of written briefs and oral argument by counsel. The trial court found the issues in favor of respondent, based upon the following Conclusions of Law (R. 100) :

“That the exclusion provisions of the statute which, as set out in Section 54-6-12, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, exempt from general application of the Act and from the jurisdiction of the Public Service Commission (except as to requirements of insurance, safety regulations and accident reports), those motor carriers engaged in transportation for non-profit agriculture associations; or those motor carriers transporting, for hire, farm, orchard, or dairy products; livestock, farm, or dairy supplies used on or about farms or dairies; coal, lumber, logs, newspapers, money or valuables, are discriminatory and deny to those carriers brought within the Act in all particulars, the equal protection of the laws as guaranteed by Amendments XIV of the Constitution of the United States of America, and Article I, Section 7, of the Constitution of the State of Utah.”

The judgment of the court was as follows (R. 102-103) :

“It is hereby ordered, adjudged and decreed that Title 54, Chapter 6, Utah Code Annotated 1953,

as amended, is hereby declared to be in violation of Amendment XIV of the Constitution of the United States of America and Article I, Section 7, of the Constitution of the State of Utah, and that said Title 54, Chapter 6, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, is unconstitutional and void."

The court's attention is directed to the fact that the above judgment is limited to declaring Title 54, Chapter 6 (the Motor Carrier Act) unconstitutional, and that Title 54 (the Public Utilities Act), insofar as its provisions relate to the regulation of motor carriers, was not declared unconstitutional.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants seek to vacate the Finding of Fact and Conclusions of Law, and the Judgment, of the court below, and to have this matter reversed in favor of the appellants and against respondent.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts in this case are limited, as the issue is primarily one of law.

Respondent is a common motor carrier of property, operating in the State of Utah pursuant to various certificates of convenience and necessity issued by the Public Service Commission of Utah (R. 44-45). Since the commencement of this action, respondent has made application to the Public Service Commission of Utah for at least one additional certificate of convenience and necessity (R. 86).

Respondent alleges in paragraph 7 of its complaint, as follows (R. 3) :

“That the defendants have threatened to require plaintiff to pay substantial penalties and have caused criminal citations to be issued against plaintiff, and plaintiff's employees, the proceedings under some of which are still pending, for plaintiff's alleged failure to comply with the requirements of Title 54, Chapter 6, Utah Code Annotated 1953.”

At the time respondent filed its complaint in this matter, there was pending before the Supreme Court of Utah the case of *Wycoff Company, Incorporated v. Public Service Commission of Utah, et al.*, 13 Utah (2d) 123, 369 Pac. (2d) 283. The decision of the Supreme Court on March 1, 1962, affirmed the penalty assessed against respondent by the Public Service Commission in the amount of \$18,500.00 for violations of the Motor Carrier Act. The penalties were imposed pursuant to Sec. 54-7-25, Utah Code Annotated 1953, part of the Public Utilities Act not the Motor Carrier Act. There is presently pending before the District Court for Salt Lake County, case, Civil No. 140087, *State of Utah v. Wycoff Company, Incorporated*, which action was instituted to recover the aforesaid penalty of \$18,500.00 from Wycoff. A judgment in favor of the State of Utah was rendered April 10, 1963. On June 21, 1963, an order was issued by said District Court, suspending any further proceedings in said case until the constitutionality of the Motor Carrier Act is resolved by this court.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

RESPONDENT IS ESTOPPED TO QUESTION
THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF THE UTAH

MOTOR CARRIER ACT (CHAPTER 6, TITLE
54, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED 1953).

Respondent Wycoff has for many years been engaged in business as a common motor carrier of property, holding certificates of convenience and necessity to engage in the transportation of property for hire in Utah commerce, and during the pendency of this action, has petitioned the Public Service Commission of Utah for an enlargement or extension of its authority to engage in the transportation of property in intrastate commerce (R. 86). During this time, respondent has enjoyed the benefits a motor carrier derives from being the holder of certificates of convenience and necessity and did not choose to challenge the constitutionality of the Utah Motor Carrier Act, or the Public Utilities Act, as it pertains to motor carriers, until the filing of this action.

Apparently this action was commenced as a result of the allegations contained in paragraph 7 of respondent's complaint, which states: "That the defendants have threatened to require Plaintiff to pay substantial penalties and have caused criminal citations to be issued against plaintiff, and plaintiff's employees, the proceedings under some of which are still pending, for plaintiff's alleged failure to comply with the requirements of Title 54, Chapter 6, Utah Code Annotated 1953" (R. 3). With respect to the extent that respondent was adversely affected by such action, the Supreme Court of Utah laid the matter at rest on March 1, 1962, when it decided the case of *Wycoff Co., Inc. v. Public Service Commission of Utah, et al.*, supra, upholding the im-

position of a penalty of \$18,500.00 against the carrier for violations of its authority, and sustaining the validity of the statutes under which such action was taken.

The position of appellants is that respondent is estopped to question the constitutionality of the Utah Motor Carrier Act on the basis that one who retains and enjoys the benefits of a law may not attack its constitutionality.

It is a well recognized rule in constitutional law that one who accepts benefits under a statute may be estopped from questioning the constitutionality of the statute. This principle is stated as follows in the case of *Fahey v. Maloney*, 332 U. S. 245, 91 L. Ed 2031:

“* * * It is an elementary rule of constitutional law that one may not ‘retain the benefits of the Act while attacking the constitutionality of one of its important conditions.’ *United States v. San Francisco*, 310 U. S. 16, 29, 84 L. Ed. 1050, 1059, 60 S. Ct. 749. As formulated by Mr. Justice Brandeis, concurring in *Ashwander v. Tennessee Valley Authority*, 297 U. S. 288, 348, 80 L. Ed. 688, 711, 56 S. Ct. 466, ‘The Court will not pass upon the constitutionality of a statute at the instance of one who has availed himself of its benefits.’”

There are exceptions to the rule, however, and it appears that the courts are not in complete agreement. The situation is described thusly in the summary of a complete annotation on this subject in 65 A. L. R. (2d) 664:

“It is not possible to derive, from the cases discussed in this annotation, a flat or uniform rule governing the question whether a person is, by applying for or securing a professional or occupational license, precluded from attacking the valid-

ity of the licensing law, or any of its parts, or an administrative regulation issued thereunder. *The question ordinarily depends upon the circumstances of the individual case.*

“* * *

“As regards the nature of the proceeding in which an attack on the constitutionality of a licensing law, or part thereof, is made, the authorities seem in agreement that such an attack cannot be made in proceedings to obtain the license, except as to specific provisions which prevent the applicant from obtaining the license. Most cases hold that a person who obtains a license cannot afterward question the constitutionality of the licensing law when the license is sought to be revoked. But there are cases upholding such an attack even in proceedings related to revocation. It seems that the rule of estoppel or waiver does not apply in a criminal or civil proceeding for acting without a license. But it cannot be said that in civil actions between private parties the rule of waiver or estoppel never applies; the rule has been uniformly applied in actions on a licensee's bond.

“Apart from the circumstances of individual cases, there is a cleavage in the court's fundamental approach to the question under annotation. Some of the courts, in holding that an attack was not permissible, have emphasized that the application for the license was the voluntary act of the litigant, while other courts, in reaching the opposite result as to the permissibility of the attack, have emphasized that in view of the penalties prescribed in the licensing law for acting without license, the application for the license was not the voluntary act of the litigant.” (Emphasis added.)

In 1957 this court had a somewhat analogous situation before it in the case of *Salt Lake City Lines v. Salt Lake City*, 6 U. 2d 428, 315 P. 2d 859. To refresh the court's memory of the facts of that case, they are summarized in the syllabus as follows: "The Supreme Court, Henriod, J., held that where transportation company for six years accepted all terms of ordinance which permitted it to operate a mass transportation system by rail, bus, or other systems, and required company to pay license tax, company's conduct constituted an acceptance of ordinance and company could not attack validity of ordinance, even though company had not filed acceptance within 30 days after ordinance was passed and ordinance provided that failure to file would render ordinance null and void."

In its decision in the *Salt Lake City Lines* case, this court cited with approval the principle set down in *Fahey v. Mallonee*, supra, when it said:

"All of the contentions mentioned seem to be vulnerable to the general proposition that one accepting the benefits of legislation, ordinarily is speechless in denouncing its validity, even on constitutional grounds. * * *"

Another frequently cited case, *St. Louis Public Service Co., a corp., v. The City of St. Louis, et al.*, (Mo.), 302 S. W. 2d 875, states the rule as follows:

"The rule is well settled that one voluntarily proceeding under a statute or ordinance, and claiming benefits thereby conferred, will not be heard to question its validity in order to avoid its burdens. The same or similar rules have been applied in litigation involving many different types of instru-

ments, licenses, or other transactions. The designation used in referring to this rule or doctrine is obviously unimportant. It is frequently called an estoppel. However, it is akin to the rule against assuming inconsistent positions and it involves the principles of waiver, election, and ratification rather, perhaps, than being limited to the precise principles of equitable estoppel. Regardless of the name or principle designated, the result is clearly the same. It precludes one who accepts the benefits from questioning the validity of the accompanying obligation. * * *

See also *Neel v. Texas Liquor Control Board* (Texas), 259 S. W. 2d 312; *Crittenden County v. McConnell* (Ky.), 36 S. W. 2d 627; *American Board and Mortgage Company v. United States*, 52 F. 2d 318; and *Gregory v. Hecke*, (Calif.), 238 Pac. 787.

In *Cofman v. Ousterhous*, 40 N. D. 390, 168 N. W. 826, the court said:

“Nor in any event, can the relator question the right of the dairy commissioner to cancel the license on the ground of the unconstitutionality of the act, and that his business was such that could not be constitutionally licensed. It is clear, indeed, that a person who obtains a license under a law, and seeks for a time to enjoy the benefits thereof, cannot afterward question the constitutionality of the act when the license is sought to be revoked. *Minneapolis, St. P. & S., Ste. M. R. Co. v. Nester*, 3 N. D. 480, 47 N. W. 510; *Hart v. Folsom*, 70 H. H. 213, 47 Atl. 603; *State v. Seebold*, 192 Mo. 720, 91 S. W. 491; note in 19 Ann. Cas. 183.”

While it is true that in some instances the courts have not recognized the doctrine of estoppel on the basis that a

person acquiring a license does not do so voluntarily because he would be severely penalized if he operated without a license, such reasoning is not in accord with the facts of life today. At one time, few professions or occupations required a license, but today there is scarcely a trade or occupation, with any type of public interest, that isn't subject to licensing and regulation—lawyers, doctors, contractors, architects, barbers, beauty parlors, and public utilities, just to name a few. It would be specious thinking to say that the acquisition of a license to engage in these businesses and occupations is the involuntary act of the applicants. Today it is well recognized that most licensed businesses and occupations require certain qualifications or skills and that licensees receive benefits from being licensed.

In the instant case, respondent maintains an inconsistent position. For years, respondent has enjoyed the benefits of the Motor Carrier Act, and while this very action was pending, continued to seek additional authority to operate under the law. By virtue of the circumstances of this case, and the case law and texts heretofore cited, appellants submit that respondent is estopped to challenge the constitutionality of the Utah Motor Carrier Act.

POINT II.

A PARTY MAY NOT CLAIM THE INVALIDITY OF A STATUTE UNLESS SUCH PARTY IS HARMFULLY AFFECTED BY THE PARTICULAR FEATURES OF THE STATUTE.

In 16 Corpus Juris Secundum, Constitutional Law, Section 76, it is stated, in part:

"As a general rule, the constitutionality of a statute or other governmental action is to be considered in the light of the standing of the party who seeks to raise the question and of its particular application. It is a firmly established principle of law that the constitutionality of a statute or ordinance may not be attacked by one whose rights are not, or are not about to be, adversely affected by the operation of the statute. This rule applies to all cases both at law and in equity, and is equally applicable in both civil and criminal proceedings. One of the many variations of this rule is the principle that one may not urge the unconstitutionality of a statute who is not harmfully affected by the particular feature of the statute alleged to be in conflict with the constitution."

In this connection, see *Tilleston v. Ullman*, 318 U. S. 44; *Jeffrey Manufacturing Co. v. Blagg*, 235 U. S. 571; *State v. Heitz* (Idaho), 238 Pac. (2d) 439; *Pugh v. Pugh*, 124 N. W. 959.

In *Bode, et al. v. Barrett, et al.*, 344 U. S. 583, 97 L. Ed. 567, the rule was stated as follows:

"* * * Appellants make other arguments to the effect that the statute is so inconsistent, vague, and uncertain in its classification as to violate the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. But even if we assume that the vagaries of the law reach that dignity, no showing is made that any of the appellants is the victim of an invidious classification."

See also *Utah Power & Light Co. v. Pfof*, 286 U. S. 165.

In what way do the exemptions in the statutes harm respondent? Respondent may haul the cargoes exempted under Section 54-6-12, Utah Code Annotated 1953, if it so desires. The only harm indicated by respondent is that it may be subject to penalties under the Public Utility Act, which Act is not before the court. It seems to appellants that the Act would be meaningless if it couldn't be enforced. As stated before, this court settled the matter with respect to penalties against respondent in the case of *Wycoff Company, Incorporated v. Public Service Commission of Utah, et al.*, supra.

POINT III.

THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 54-6-12, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED 1953, AS AMENDED, DO NOT DENY RESPONDENT DUE PROCESS OR EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAW.

It is a well settled rule that when the constitutionality of an act of the Legislature is under consideration, there is a strong presumption that the act is constitutional. The Utah Supreme Court stated the rule as follows in the case of *Lehi City v. Meiling*, 87 Utah 237, 48 P. 2d 530:

“In approaching the subject we have in mind the rule that when an act of the Legislature is attacked on grounds of unconstitutionality the question presented is not whether it is possible to condemn the act, but whether it is possible to uphold it. The presumption is always in favor of validity, and legislative enactments must be sustained unless clearly in violation of fundamental law. *Wadsworth v. Santaquin City*, 83 Utah 321, 28 P. 2d 161. Every presumption will be indulged in favor of legislation

and only clear and demonstrable usurpation of power will authorize judicial interference with legislative action."

It is also a well established rule that a person attacking the validity of a legislative enactment has the burden of substantiating his claim. The rule is stated as follows in 11 Am. Jur. 796:

"With regard to the duties cast upon the assailant of a legislative enactment, the rule is fixed that a party who alleges the unconstitutionality of a statute normally has the burden of substantiating his claim and must overcome the strong presumption in favor of its validity. It has been said that the party who wishes to pronounce a law unconstitutional takes on himself the burden of proving this conclusion beyond all doubt, and that a party who asserts that the legislature has usurped power or has violated the Constitution must affirmatively and clearly establish his position. * * *"

This court recognized the rule in *Justice v. Standard Gilsonite Co.*, 12 Utah 357, 366 P. 2d 974, saying:

"* * * We recognize as correct the rule as stated in 12 American Jurisprudence 216 and 217, Sec. 521, as follows:

" 'One who assails the classification in a law must carry the burden of showing that it does not rest on any reasonable basis, but is essentially arbitrary. * * *

" * * * Before a court can interfere with the legislative judgment, it must be able to say that there is no fair reason for the law that would not require with equal force its extension to others whom it leaves untouched. * * *"

In this case, respondent assails the constitutionality of the Utah Motor Carrier Act and the Public Utilities Act, insofar as it relates to the regulation of motor carriers, on the basis that Section 54-6-12, Utah Code Annotated 1953, exempts certain classes of motor vehicles from the need to obtain certificates of convenience and necessity and from complying with the tariff provision of the Utah Public Service Commission, thereby violating Amendment XIV of the Constitution of the United States of America and Article I, Sections 2, 7 and 24 of the Constitution of the State of Utah. The court below limited its judgment to declaring Title 54, Chapter 6, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended (the Motor Carrier Act), unconstitutional (R. 102).

For the convenience of the court, Section 54-6-12, Utah Code Annotated 1953, is set out below, with emphasis supplied to mark the exemptions:

“Except for the provisions of 54-6-17 relative to requirements of insurance, 54-6-21 relative to safety regulations, and 54-6-22 relative to accident report no portion of this act shall apply:

“(a) To motor vehicles when engaged exclusively in transporting *students or their instructors* to or from school or to or from school activities, the word ‘school’ to be construed to mean a place or structure in which the annual winter or summer elementary, collegiate, university or religious instruction is carried on; or

“(b) To motor vehicles when used exclusively in carrying the *United States mail* under contract with the federal government; or

“(c) To motor vehicles when the cargo consists exclusively of *livestock, farm, orchard, or dairy products* which are being transported between farm, orchard or dairy and a market, warehouse, creamery or processing plant; or exclusively of *farm or dairy supplies* used in or about the farm or dairy; or exclusively of *coal, lumber or logs* which are being transported from mine or forest to shipping point or market; or

• “(d) To motor vehicles when owned or operated by any duly organized *agriculture cooperative association* and used exclusively in the carrying on of its legally authorized nonprofit activities; or

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