1963

Wycoff Company Inc. v. Public Service Comm. Of Utah et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE EXCLUSIONARY PROVISIONS OF SECTION 54-6-12 UCA 1953, AS AMENDED, DENIED TO RESPONDENT CONSTITUTIONAL EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAW WHICH DEPRIVED RESPONDENT OF ITS PROPERTY WITHOUT DUE PROCESS OF LAW.

The decision of the trial court that Respondent seeks to have affirmed is based upon the trial court's findings that Respondent was not being accorded equal protection of the law in that it belonged to a class that the Motor Carrier Act discriminates against. This general proposition is described at 12 American Jurisprudence 220, "Constitutional Law," Section 525.

Generally – The theory underlying constitutional requirements of equality is that all persons in like circumstances and like conditions must be treated alike, both as to privileges conferred and as to liabilities or burdens imposed. Any statute which imposes special restrictions or burdens on, or grants special privileges to, certain persons engaged in a business, which burdens or privileges are not imposed on, or granted to, other persons engaged in the same business under the same circumstances, is invalid. In the application of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States, no distinction is to be observed between the effect of privileges conferred and the effect of burdens imposed. A privilege conferred upon one class is a discrimination in favor of that class and against all others not similarly endowed

just as a burden upon one class is a discrimination against it and in favor of all others not similarly afflicted.

A privilege or a burden is or is not a denial of the equal protection of the laws according to whether the discrimination relates to a matter upon which classification is legally permissible and, if so, whether the classification is a reasonable one.

Respondent relies upon the following constitutional provisions:

* * * nor shall any state * * * deprive any person of life, liberty or property without due process of law nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws. (*Section 1, Fourteenth Amendment, U.S. Constitution*)

All political power is inherent in the people; and all free governments are founded on their authority for their equal protection and benefit, and they have the right to alter or reform their government as the public welfare may require (*Article I, Section 2, Utah Constitution*)

No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law. (*Article I, Section 7, Utah Constitution.*)

All laws of a general nature shall have uniform operation. (*Article I, Section 24, Utah Constitution*)

The legislature is prohibited from enacting any private or special laws in the following cases:

* * *

16. Granting to an individual, association or corporation any privilege, immunity or franchise.

* * *

In all cases where a general law can be applicable, no special law shall be enacted. (*Article VI, Section 26, Utah Constitution*)

Sections 54-6-2, -3, -4, and -5 describe the extent to which carriers are to be regulated by Appellant Commission, declare that all common motor carriers are subject to such regulation as "common carriers," and prohibit any transportation operations for hire on the public highways of the State, that are not conducted in accordance with said Act. These Sections read as follows:

54-6-2. All motor carriers subject to regulation as common carriers. — All common motor carriers of property or passengers as defined in this act are hereby declared to be common carriers within the meaning of the public utility laws of this state, and subject to this act and to the laws of this state, including the regulation of all rates and charges now in force or that hereafter may be enacted, pertaining to public utilities and common carriers as far as applicable, and not in conflict herewith.

54-6-3. Transporting for compensation on public highways. — No common or contract motor carrier shall operate any motor vehicle for the transportation of either persons or property for compensation on any public highway in this state except in accordance with the provisions of this act.

54-6-4. Common motor carriers — Powers and duties of commission. — The commission is vested with power and authority, and it shall be its duty, to supervise and regulate all common motor carriers and to fix, alter, regulate and determine just, fair, reasonable and sufficient rates, fares, charges and classifications; to regulate the facilities, accounts, service and safety of operations of each such common motor carrier, to

regulate operating and time schedules so as to meet the needs of any community, and so as to insure adequate transportation service to the territory traversed by such common motor carriers, and so as to prevent unnecessary duplication of service between these common motor carriers, and between them and the line of competing steam and electric railroads; and the commission may require the coordination of the service and schedules of competing common carriers by motor vehicles or electric and steam railroads; to require the filing of annual and other reports, tariffs, schedules and other data by such common motor carriers and the public and between such common motor carriers and other common carriers, to the end that the provisions of this chapter may be fully and completely carried out. The commission shall have power and authority, by general order or otherwise, to prescribe rules and regulations in conformity with this act applicable to any and all such common motor carriers, and to do all things necessary to carry out and enforce the provisions of this act. All laws relating to the powers, duties, authority and jurisdiction of the commission over common carriers are hereby made applicable to all such common motor carriers *except as herein otherwise specifically provided.* (Emphasis added.)

54-6-5. *Intrastate commerce — Certificate of convenience and necessity.* — It shall be unlawful for any common motor carrier to operate as a carrier in intrastate commerce within this state without first having obtained from the commission a certificate of convenience and necessity.’ ’ ’

Section 54-6-18, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, stipulates that every carrier or person who violates any provision of the Motor Carrier Act is guilty of a misdemeanor; and Sec-

on 54-7-25, et seq, provide other penalties for failure to comply with *any* part of Title 54, Utah Code Annotated 1953. By excluding certain motor carriers from general regulation of the Public Service Commission, Section 54-6-12 establishes privileged classes which are not subject to the following type of general regulation by the Commission:

1. They do not have to obtain Certificates of Convenience and Necessity (Section 54-6-5) or Contract Carrier permits (Section 54-6-9).
2. They are not regulated as to rates and classifications (Section 54-6-11).
3. They are not subject to regulation in transferring certificates or permits in the event of transfer or death of the owner (Section 54-6-24).
4. They do not have to obtain temporary or emergency permits when the need arises (Section 54-6-10).
5. They are not regulated pertaining to their accounts and records, including methods of depreciation (Section 54-4-23, -24).
6. They are not regulated concerning keeping records and books available within the state and subject to inspection (Section 54-7-8).
7. They do not have to keep and maintain a schedule of rates and charges as condition precedent to doing business (Section 54-3-6 and 54-7-12).
8. If they are a corporation, they are not regulated as to declaration and payment of dividends (Section 54-4-27).
9. They are not forbidden to discriminate in services rendered or rates charged (Section 54-3-8).

The foregoing list does not purport to be an exhaustive one by any means, but is simply set forth to illustrate what is involved in being subject to general regulation and not being so subjected.

It may be of assistance to point out that Section 54-2-1 (28) defines the term "public utility" to include every "common carrier." Section 54-6-2 provides that all motor carriers "as defined in this act are hereby declared to be common carriers within the meaning of the public utility laws." Section 54-6-12 provides that "no portion of this act shall apply" to those carriers excluded from general regulation of the Public Service Commission, "except for the provisions of 54-6-17 relative to the requirements of insurance, 54-6-21 relative to safety regulations, and 54-6-22 relative to accident reports." It should be borne in mind that, although the next to last paragraph of 54-6-12 gives the Commission power to prescribe reasonable rules and regulations to carry out the purposes of the act, *any such rules and regulations are limited only to matters of insurance, safety regulations and accident reports*, as provided. The power to regulate exempt carriers is limited to the stated exceptions, namely, general regulation of insurance, safety regulations and accident reports.

The District Court found, and Respondent contends, that this causes the entire motor carrier act contained in Chapter 6, Title 54, Utah Code Annotated 1953, to be unconstitutional. The correct rule is stated in 11 American Jurisprudence 855, "Constitutional Law" Section 161, dealing with striking out unconstitutional exceptions:

One important class of cases in which questions as to the severability of valid and invalid portions of an act and the determination of the legislative intent

are involved consists of statutes containing invalid exceptions or provisos. The general rule is that if such a proviso operates to limit the scope of the act in such a manner that by striking out the proviso, the remainder of the statute would have a broader scope either as to subject or territory, then the whole act is invalid, because such extended operation would not be in accordance with the legislative intent.

In other words, if the court were to strike out the exceptions contained in 54-6-12, the remainder of the Motor Carrier Act would be broader, the result would not be as intended by the legislature, which has a predominance of rural legislators, and the whole act would be invalid.

The quotation from 11 Am. Jur. 855 continues at page 866:

Instances of the application of this rule may be found in the case of statutes prohibiting trusts or combinations to fix prices or restrict the production of articles of commerce, *but excepting from the prohibitions all persons engaged in agriculture or horticulture*; * * *, and the courts may properly infer that it would not have been enacted if such group had not been excluded from its operation and protected from its provisions.

The recent decisions of the United States Supreme Court which have held that failure of state legislatures to reapportion themselves to be no longer without a federal judicial remedy, points up one of the political facts of life of the twentieth century: State Legislatures are controlled by rural areas although the rural population comprises a minority. It would be possible to infer that the exclusionary provisions of the 1935 Motor Carrier Act were inserted to satisfy the farm lobby and other politically-favored

groups who were more effective than others in escaping regulation. As the Court is aware, the Third District Court, for Salt Lake County, by and through Judge Joseph G. Jeppson, declared not only the Motor Carrier Act but all of the Public Utilities Act unconstitutional, to the extent that the provisions of the latter act related to the regulation or control of motor carriers (R. 7-11). Although this case was appealed to the Supreme Court, it was dismissed on June 3, 1953, upon the motion of the Public Service Commission (R.17, paragraph 2). Respondent does not now contend the Public Utilities Act (Title 54) to be unconstitutional because the Motor Carrier Act of 1935 was merely amendatory of the 1917 Public Utility Act. *Smith vs. Cahoon*, 283 US 553, 75 L. 2d. 1264 was the principal authority relied upon in the *Newman* case, and it involved a Florida motor carrier regulatory act with exclusions held to be constitutionally defective under the equal protection clause of the 14th Amendment of the U.S. Constitution. The exclusions from the Florida statute was quoted in the opinion (p. 1269), as follows:

* * * Provided, That the term 'auto transportation company' as used in this act *shall not include* corporations or persons engaged exclusively in the transportation of children to or from school, or any transportation company engaged exclusively in the transporting of agricultural, horticultural, dairy, or other farm products with fresh and salt fish and oysters and shrimp from the point of production to the assembling or shipping point en route to primary market or to motor vehicles used exclusively in transporting or delivering dairy products or any transportation company engaged in operating taxicabs, or hotel busses from a depot to a hotel in the same town or city. (Emphasis supplied)

Regarding the exclusionary provisions, the Court declared at page 1274 of 75 L.ed.

• • • The act provides that the term auto transportation company, upon which the obligations of the act are imposed, shall not include 'any transportation company engaged exclusively in the transporting agricultural, horticultural, dairy or other farm products and fresh and salt fish and oysters and shrimp from the point of production to the assembling or shipping point en route to primary market or to motor vehicles used exclusively in transporting or delivering dairy products.' The point with respect to this discrimination is not that a distinction is made between common carriers and private carriers, but between private carriers themselves, although they are alike engaged in transporting property for compensation over public highways between fixed termini or over a regular route.

The holding of the Court (page 1274) is plain and unequivocal:

• • • (T)here does not appear to be the slightest justification for making a distinction between those who carry for hire farm products, or milk or butter, or fish or oysters, and those who carry for hire bread or sugar, or tea or coffee, or groceries in general, or other useful commodities. So far as the statute was designed to safeguard the public with respect to the use of the highways, we think that the discrimination it makes between the private carriers which are relieved of the necessity of obtaining certificates and giving security, and a carrier such as the appellant, was wholly arbitrary and constituted a violation of the appellant's constitutional right. Such a classification is not based on anything having relation to the purpose for which it is made.' (Cases cited.)

The entire Florida act was declared void and unconstitutional and the Utah Motor Carrier Act can have no better standing.

Appellants would have this Court believe that the controlling factor which influenced the court in *Smith v. Cahoon* to declare the Florida motor carrier act unconstitutional was that regulated carriers were required to provide a bond or insurance and that excepted carriers were not. The opinion makes clear that there are other constitutional defects when, at page 1274 of 75 L Ed it is stated:

If we leave on one side the requirement that a certificate holder, who is a private carrier, shall give a bond or policy for the goods carried by him, irrespective of his contract with his employer whose goods he carries, and if we consider any of the provision for the protection of the public with respect to the use of the highways, *another* constitutional difficulty is encountered, that is, of an unconstitutional discrimination. (Emphasis supplied)

The court held that the Florida act was invalid on its face, on page 1272 of 75 L Ed:

The statute on its face makes no distinction between common carriers and a private carrier such as the appellant. It applies, without any stated exception, to every auto transportation company within the statutory definition, and this admittedly included the appellant. It not only required an application for certificate of public convenience and necessity but that this should be accompanied by a schedule of tariffs, and no such certificate was to be valid without the giving of a bond by the applicant * * *.

On the face of the statute, the scheme was obviously one for the supervision and control of those carriers

which, by reason of the nature of their undertaking or business, were subject to regulation by public authority in relation to rates and service.

It is submitted that the unlawful discrimination the court found through the failure to protect the public by requiring regulated and unregulated carriers to give a bond or public liability insurance was only "another" fatal defect.

The writer of this brief is well aware that the present members of this Court were the authors of the decision in *Justice vs. Standard Gilsonite*, 12 Utah 2d 357, 366 P.2d 974. This case recently declared unconstitutional the penalty provisions of the Utah statute governing payment of wages. Section 34-10-6, UCA 1953 provides as follows:

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